


QPP acknowledges the Traditional Custodians of the many lands on which 
we work and live, including but not limited to the Turrbal and Jagera 
(Brisbane), Yugambeh (Gold Coast), Gubbi Gubbi (Nambour), Yuwi (Mackay), 
Yidinjdji (Cairns), Bindal and Wulgurukaba (Townsville), and Darumbal 
(Rockhampton) people.

QPP recognises that this land is unceded and has always been under First 
Nations custodianship. We pay our respects to Elders past and present 
and emerging community leaders.

QPP also acknowledges the important role of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people within our organisation and the communities we work 
alongside.

QPP supports and welcomes the commitment to move forward with 
constitutional recognition of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
as a part of broader action towards genuine, meaningful, and lasting 
reconciliation.

As part of our reconciliation commitment, QPP is working closely with 
Reconciliation Australia to develop a Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan.

We understand this is a commitment to an ongoing framework and process 
and are committed to building sustainable and respectful relationships 
with First Nations communities. We do so to break down any organisational 
barriers that Indigenous people living with HIV (PLHIV) may experience while 
involved with QPP and our services.

In alignment with Reconciliation Australia, QPP commits to the National 
Action Campaign to act against racism through It Stops With Me.

Queensland Positive People (QPP) is primarily funded by Queensland Health.

Several photographs in this report have been selected from QPP’s archive. 
The inclusion of a person’s photograph in this report implies nothing about 
their sexuality or HIV status.
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Who we are 
About QPP
QPP is a statewide peer-led community organisation that provides a range of health 
and community services to PLHIV and people at risk of HIV and sexually transmissible 
infections (STIs). Since its inception in 1989, QPP has strived to create safe, supportive 
environments free of stigma and discrimination, and promoted equitable access and 
empowerment for PLHIV and our communities.

Over the years, the demand for services has increased, and QPP has now grown to a 
multi-disciplinary team of 32 who work together to deliver programs including:

 - Peer Navigation – early intervention program supporting PLHIV who  
  are newly diagnosed or re-engaging in services to navigate   
  the complex environment of HIV care and treatment. 
 - Treatment and Support Services – supporting PLHIV to address  
  barriers such as homelessness, mental health, and other issues that  
  might impact their management of HIV.
 - Stigma and Discrimination – support and referral for PLHIV who  
  experience prejudice or HIV-related legal difficulties affecting their  
  quality of life.
 - Peer-led HIV/STI point-of-care testing. 
 - Emergency and short-term funding relief for PLHIV experiencing  
  financial hardship and insecurity.  
  
Our staff are committed to improving the quality of life of all PLHIV across Queensland, 
and all programs and projects are delivered following internationally recognised best 
practice.

QPP is dedicated to leading the Queensland HIV response. We facilitate access to a 
comprehensive range of services that promote the health and wellbeing of PLHIV in 
Queensland and prides itself on being an inclusive organisation. 

For the last 31 years, QPP’s vision has remained the same – that PLHIV are well-
informed, experience high levels of quality of life, and live a life free from stigma and 
discrimination. 

Our Principles

Social justice — we are committed to creating safe, supportive environments free of 
stigma and discrimination, promoting equitable access and individual empowerment.

Diversity — we embrace diversity in all its forms and the strength it brings to 
achieving our goals.

Meaningful involvement of PLHIV (MIPA) — we recognise the powerful 
and unique contribution provided by lived experience and pursue the meaningful 
involvement of PLHIV and all affected communities in all aspects of service delivery 
and research.

Self-determination — we deliver a comprehensive range of services that foster 
individual resilience and self-determination.

Quality and innovation — we deliver services following evidence-based best 
practice and a commitment to collaboration and continuous quality improvement.
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Progress toward 95-95-95 
Australia has committed to the United Nations’ 95-95-95 goal to end the HIV/AIDS epidemic by 2030. 
These targets aim to ensure that: 

QPP Strategic Goals — 2020/2021

Deliver innovative services for PLHIV that respond to the diversity of 
lived experience and regional disparities, improve quality of life, and 
acknowledge the social determinants of health. 

Facilitate the delivery of peer-based support services that meet the 
needs of the community. 

Reduce stigma and discrimination associated with HIV. 

Demonstrate an ongoing commitment to organisational best 
practice. 

1

2

3

4

95%
 of people with HIV 
have been tested 

and know their 
status. 

95%
of people diagnosed 

with HIV are 
receiving effective 

antiretroviral 
treatment.

95%
of people on 

treatment are 
virally suppressed. 

QPP also advocates for a fourth 95 target with 
a focus on health-related quality of life including 
access to social and peer support and mental health 
and wellbeing. 

In 2019, Australia became one of only a few countries 
to achieve the 2020 HIV elimination targets set 
by UNAIDS. Of the 29,045 PLHIV in Australia, 90% 
had been tested and diagnosed with HIV. Of those 
diagnosed, 91% were on treatment, and of those on 
treatment, 97% had an undetectable viral load. 

Despite Australia’s success, issues remain to be 
addressed, such as: 

- late diagnoses in particular population groups 

- access to preventative measures and diagnostic  
technologies, including HIV pre-exposure phrophylaxis 
(PrEP), post exposure prophylaxis (PEP), treatment 
as prevention (TasP), HIV rapid testing, and needle 
and syringe programs 

- maintaining and improving the gains made in 
treatment coverage 

- improving the quality of life for PLHIV. 

We must ensure that no-one is left behind and our efforts are appropriately tailored to priority populations 
such as culturally and linguistically diverse people from high HIV prevalence countries, Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people, gay men and other men who have sex with men, trans and gender diverse people, 
people in custodial settings, sex workers, and people who inject drugs. 



The HIV world we have been accustomed to is 
rapidly changing. 

Recent advances in HIV medications have given us 
undetectable = untransmissible (U=U) and PrEP. 
Combined, they are rapidly slowing infection rates, 
and when added to the growth area of long-acting 
injectables, it is my view that within the foreseeable 
future, the funding QPP has always relied upon 
(HIV prevention funding from the Communicable 
Diseases Branch of Queensland Health) will begin 
to be moved to other higher priority areas. PBS-
funded medications will become the new weapon 
of choice, and whilst slowing HIV notifications 
is something we could only once dream about, 
they also herald the end of peer-led prevention 
responses such as the one QPP has delivered for 
over 30 years.  

However, we are not there yet, and in recognition 
of the high esteem in which QPP’s work is currently 
held, we have successfully just renegotiated 
an additional 5-year service agreement with 
Queensland Health, and while QPP always hopes 
for the best, we remain pragmatic and plan for the 
worst.  

That’s why, for some years now, we have been 
overhauling and repositioning QPP in order to 
compete against mainstream players for funding in 
emerging areas of concern for PLHIV, such as aged 
care, mental health, community services, and the 
National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS). Our 
goal is to deliver programs to benefit the 6000 or 
so PLHIV now living in Queensland for whom the 
epidemic won’t end even when new notifications do. 

This accreditation work is tough, but the staff and 
board see no other choice if we are to continue to 
be around to meet the challenges of the next 30 

years and offer a comprehensive suite of programs 
to assist PLHIV of all ages and health statuses.

By adding Commonwealth-funded programs (Aged 
Care, NDIS), we will not only be able to support many 
of the Queensland PLHIV who do not benefit from 
our current prevention programs but for the first 
time, be in a position to generate a small income 
from the fees paid by the Federal Government for 
delivering these services. This is Income that we can 
redirect back into the types of programs that you 
have been telling us in our community surveys that 
you want from us, but which governments, both 
state and federal, are unwilling to fund.

Later this year, I will be asking members to vote on 
a motion that will allow us to convert from being a 
state-based incorporated agency into a company 
limited by guarantee. This technical change 
won’t affect our values or goals, but has been 
recommended to the board as a first and vital step 
along the transformative path above.  

This year it also gave the board much pleasure to 
add to the QPP Honour Board three Queensland 
champions, who during their careers have each 
made outstanding contributions to the PLHIV 
community:

 • Phil Carswell OAM
 • Dr David Bradford
 • Dr Joe McCormack

I have been privileged during my time in Queensland 
to work directly with all of these heroes and 
know personally the power of their energy and 
contributions to us all. Thank you. Thank you. Thank 
you. Please visit the QPP website for details of their 
exceptional work and contributions.  

President’s and CEO’s reports
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Despite all of the continued ups and downs over 
the past 12 months and increased demand and 
pressures on the services we provide, QPP has 
ensured the sustainability of services throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic response. We have bolstered 
our capacity to creatively provide much-needed 
support to PLHIV and people at risk of HIV/STIs in 
Queensland. 

We have so much to be proud of and celebrate. 
Some of our achievements include: 

•  Continued exceptionally high levels of client   
 satisfaction across all programs.
•  The Life+ Program continued to provide peer 

navigation and case management support to 
over 400 PLHIV. This included emotional and 
psychological support and assistance with 
treatment access and adherence, housing, 
mental health, substance use, and stigma 
and discrimination. Demand increased this 
year from people experiencing COVID-19-
related emotional and psychological distress, 
immigration issues, and homelessness. 

•  Over $70,000 of funding was provided to 164 
PLHIV experiencing financial hardship.   

• The RAPID testing program delivered 6,540 
occasions of service, distributed 333 online 
orders for HIV home testing kits, and operated 
a peer-support telephone line during some 
lockdown periods.   

•  Specific COVID-19 funding grants enabled: 
 •  A dedicated community engagement   
  position to support the following initiatives: 

•    Establishment of the QPP Community  
Advisory Group (CAG), who have met 
eight times over the last 12 months. 
The group is invaluably informing 
the design, implementation, and 
evaluation of QPP programs and 
services

•  Peer-led education on HIV and  

COVID-19, including updates and 
information on HIV comorbidities, 
associated COVID-19 risks, vulnerability 
to serious illness, and vaccination 

•  Coordination of 14 QPP online social 
groups plus additional support for 
in-person social groups, with over 120 
regular attendees  

•  Support for over 10 national online chat 
and information sessions on mental 
health and the moving landscape of 
COVID-19   

•  Redesign and update of the QPP website –  
 watch this space as work is due to be   
 completed by the end of 2021.    
• Implementation of a staff and client   
 safety and wellness program  

•  Provision of personal protective   
  equipment 
• Hands-free building upgrades  
•  Provision of specialised psychological 

and other approved therapies for staff 
to support staff resilience and prevent 
burnout.  

A reinvigorated World AIDS Day 2020 with a new 
digital awareness campaign was informed by the 
lived experience of PLHIV. The positive voice at the 
Candlelight Vigils in Brisbane and Cairns and media 
engagements was deeply and powerfully felt by 
all.  Seven regional World AIDS Day Grants were 
distributed across Queensland.  

QPP continues to value research that demonstrates 
the impact of the services we provide and builds an 
evidence base to assist us to better understand 
the needs of our communities. We are a partner 
organisation in 14 Queensland-led research studies 
and participate in 10 national projects and advisory 
groups.  

On a sadder note, I would like to honour the passing 
of Arone Meeks and David Bermingham. Arone 
was a tireless and passionate artist and health 
advocate for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people, an engaging educator, and a strong anti-
stigma campaigner. David had a long and fulfilling 
association with the performing arts and the 
theatre, was the co-founder of the HOPE Fund, 
and also features on the QPP Honour Board. Both 
Arone and David are missed greatly by us all and, 
our thoughts are with their families. 

The challenges facing QPP and the PLHIV community 
remain, but I am excited about the future and feel 
more confident than ever that as an organisation 
we are making the advances and changes we need 
to continue to be there for all Queensland PLHIV for 
the long haul.  

Please become actively engaged and help us make 
the right decisions as we all progress down this path. 
For now stay well and take care. 

Mark Counter
QPP President



QPP was successful in obtaining grant funding to 
work with a consultant from the Community Business 
Bureau to become an NDIS service provider.   

Advocacy work has focused on: 

•  Removing questions regarding HIV status   
 disclosure on Queensland Health COVID   
 vaccination forms. 

•  HIV and the Law reform with the Queensland   
 Government Office of the Attorney-General.

•  Providing feedback on the Federal    
 Government’s Religious Discrimination Bill   
 2019, expressing deep concerns regarding   
 the prioritisation of religious beliefs.  

•  Providing feedback on the Federal Government’s 
Online Safety Bill, expressing concerns regarding 
the ability to implement public health and harm 
minimisation sexual education campaigns.  

•  Developing a submission to the government’s 
Inquiry into Social Isolation and Loneliness in 
Queensland. 

Behind the scenes, we have continued work on a 
number of operational reforms with a focus on 
positive organisational culture, capacity building, 
and working towards accreditation. This has involved 
significant changes and developments in human 
resources, governance, financial management, and 
quality and risk systems. 

Further, we have reviewed our organisational and 
management structure with the aim of providing 
deeper interconnection of role and function for 
the relevant staff and teams. This has allowed the 
organisation to be forward-thinking and motivated, 
with increased capacity and sustainability. QPP has 
been able to enhance its communications capacity 
and increase the number of peer testers and case 
managers in the team. 

Looking ahead to 2021/2022: 
New chapters 
As we journey into the year ahead, it does feel like a 
whole new exciting chapter.

Alongside the development of a new QPP Strategic 
Plan and organisational values for the next 5 years, 
we have renegotiated and signed a five year service 
agreement with the Queensland Department of 
Health, including additional funding for the RAPID 
testing program and HIV home testing kits. This 

provides much-needed stability and security for the 
services we provide for PLHIV and people at risk of 
HIV/STIs for the next few years. 

We are scheduled to obtain HSQS accreditation 
by the end of 2021 and are in the midst of a self-
audit in preparation for the external audit in 
October. The work involved in this process can be 
intense and overwhelming at times, but we are 
embracing the opportunity to identify our strengths 
and weaknesses, learn and grow, and embrace the 
changes we need to make to ensure we are serving 
the PLHIV community to the highest standard 
possible. We are also aiming to finalise the QPP 
Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan.   

Our commitment to developing new strategic 
relationships with the Queensland Government to 
advocate and address unmet needs of the PLHIV 
community will continue. This includes strengthening 
relationships more broadly within the Department 
of Health and with other key departments, including 
Communities and Housing and the Office of the 
Attorney-General. 

QPP’s work with the Community Business Bureau 
NDIS Consultant will support us to prepare an action 
plan and pilot program for QPP NDIS service delivery 
to identify all the steps we need to complete to be 
future market-ready in the NDIS space. We will also 
continue to find funding for the expertise we need 
to develop a business case for QPP to move into 
providing services for PLHIV who are ageing. 

We have also recently launched a survey to examine 
our engagement with the positive community 
across Queensland. We have called out to the 
PLHIV community to take part, have their say, and 
help shape the future of HIV and QPP. We are so 
appreciative of everyone’s time to help us make the 
best decisions we can for all of us. 

I would like to thank the QPP community, staff, and 
board for their gracious support, dedication, and 
commitment as we nourish our foundations, grow 
together, and change. 

Melissa Warner
QPP CEO



QPP Patron’s statement
I congratulate QPP on the achievements over the past difficult 
year. With you, I look forward with confidence and good hope 
to the year ahead. 

QPP are experts in coping with pandemics. The advent of  HIV/
AIDS in the mid-1980s taught us a number of lessons. They 
included the importance of working together; of transparency 
in all that we do; and in constantly striving to keep the human 
dimension alive and vibrant for those who are most affected, 
their loved ones and families. 

In this sense, HIV was a continuing teacher in Australia for the 
strategies that work in dealing with pandemics. Fortunately, 
the lessons that were learned in the 1980s and 1990s in 
respect of responding to HIV have stood us in good stead 
in our response to the new COVID-19 pandemic in 2020-
2021. Politicians have made themselves available to ensure 
accountability and answerability for the policies they adopt. 
Medical experts are on the television virtually every night 
explaining where we have come from, where we are, and where 
the pandemic of coronavirus is taking us. Unmentionable fears 
are tamed by scientific candour and thorough explanations of 
strategic decisions that have to be made all the time. In this 
way, the modern generation of all citizens facing up to the 
challenges of COVID has been able to draw upon the lessons 
we learned 30 and 40 years earlier. 

Respect for the dignity of all people and especially for their 
fears and anxieties in coping with a strange new virus. Sharing 
support with the specially vulnerable. In HIV, this meant gay 
men; sex workers; trans people; people who inject drugs; 
prisoners and detainees. Many of the same vulnerable groups 
have had to face special challenges in coping with  the new 
dangers of COVID. So it has been possible for us to share 
our experiences and to urge solidarity within the specially 
vulnerable communities and reach out to others, and to the 
general community, which is at risk of COVID. 

I am delighted to read  the information that is shared in this 
year's Annual Report. It is heartwarming to see the high levels 
of client satisfaction; the specific attention that has been given 
to mixed problems of HIV and COVID,  the particular  attention 
that has been given to staff and client safety and wellness, 
and the beneficial  outreach that has happened through the 
Reconciliation Action Plan. During the year past, QPP has 
reached out and helped over 600 people living with HIV and 
AIDS. The organisation has written new chapters in its story, 
and more are in store in 2022. The 5-year service agreement 
with the Queensland Department of Health continues to 
operate as designed. This is an organisation that combines 
good science, human kindness, social solidarity, and peer 
support. 

Congratulations to QPP. You have risen to the challenge of 
COVID-19. You have shared the lessons that we all learned 
from HIV. Sadly, the human immunodeficiency virus and the 
coronavirus will not be the last pandemics that confront 
the human family. We must prepare, and ready ourselves, 
for the challenges that lie ahead, hopefully a long time 
from now. Combining excellent science with individual and 
community compassion is the main lesson we have learned. 
I extend sincere words of thanks and praise to QPP for their 
outstanding work in the year past. This is a story of heroes. 
And the heroic work goes on. 

The Hon Michael Kirby AC CMG
QPP Patron



COVID-19 and Our Community

QPP would like to acknowledge the hard work of our staff and the determination 
and unity demonstrated by our clients, partner organisations, and wider 
community over the last year. The safety of our clients, staff, and community is 
our top priority, and we will remain proactive in our response to all adversities.

Developing and implementing our Public Health 
Management Plan

This organisation-wide plan details our COVID-safe procedures and continues to 
enable us to safely and effectively provide support to our clients and community. It 
provides guidance on how to appropriately respond to the periodic outbreaks still being 
experienced in the community, transition back to the office, and ensure that QPP staff 
are well-informed of their public health responsibilities.

Continuing to provide Case Management, Peer Navigation, 
and RAPID testing services

In the fallout of the lockdowns experienced at the start of 2020, QPP staff worked tirelessly 
to ensure that our clients could return to their normal way of living. This meant organising 
emergency accommodation, providing assistance to re-engage with healthcare services, 
and reinitiating services such as social groups. New and innovative ways of interacting 
were developed and implemented – many of which utilised technology to engage with 
our clients and the community.

Advocating for PLHIV throughout Queensland
QPP continued to collaborate with partner organisations and peak HIV bodies to advocate 
for PLHIV during the latter part of 2020. A prime example was the appeals made to the 
Queensland Government regarding the removal of specific questions requiring disclosure 
of HIV status from COVID-19 vaccine eligibility questionnaires.

Providing timely information to our clients and community
Information regarding new research, the vaccine rollout, and any outbreaks was provided  
to our clients and community via several different methods including our newsletter, blog, 
and social media channels.

Within several months, the COVID-19 pandemic dramatically changed the 
way we all live. Lockdowns were imposed, border closures began, and the use 
of personal protective equipment became an essential part of life. With all 
these rapid changes, QPP needed to respond quickly to ensure the health and 
wellbeing of our clients, community, and staff members. QPP provided the 
following responses.
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QPP
STRATEGIC 
GOAL 1
Deliver innovative services for PLHIV that 
respond to the diversity of lived experience and 
regional disparities, improve quality of life, and 
acknowledge the social determinants of health.



STRATEGIC GOAL 1

Promote and empower individual 
self-determination and self-
management of HIV.

Create supportive and inclusive 
environments that lead to earlier 
detection of HIV and STIs.

Promote the benefits of early 
uptake and continued use of  
treatments for long-term health 
and wellbeing.

Support  access to appropriate 
services amongst ageing PLHIV to 
reduce the health impact of co-
morbidities and promote healthy 
ageing.

Maximise use of accessible media 
and innovative technologies to 
improve health literacy and reduce   
geographic isolation.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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 • establish an online CAG to guide community information and support needs
 • facilitate engagement with marginalised and vulnerable communities of PLHIV
 • increase individual health literacy related to COVID-19 and HIV
 • provide evidence-based information and education on COVID-19 and HIV topics
 • coordinate an upgrade of the QPP website to facilitate access and engagement and   
  promote QPP services.

The Life+ Program including case management, peer navigation, and stigma and discrimination services 
continued to experience increasing demand this year. We are supporting more people with a range of 
complex support needs, further exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. The high demand for these 
services has necessitated implementing a waitlist. When people are placed on a waitlist, our team provides 
support until a dedicated worker can be assigned. QPP continues to advocate with a range of government 
and non-government services for additional resources to meet growing demand from our community.

Executive Program Manager's Report
2020-2021 has been a challenging year for most due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic. As the pandemic has 
unfolded, it has impacted PLHIV and those at risk of 
HIV in different ways. The challenges presented have 
required QPP to continually adapt and innovate our 
service delivery in response to pandemic restrictions 
and the changing needs of our communities.

QPP staff and programs spanning case 
management, the RAPID testing clinic, stigma and 
discrimination, and peer services and navigation 
demonstrated their ability to be agile and flexible 
to ensure continuity in service delivery with minimal 
disruption. We expanded the scope of our peer 
support services with a focus on people who 
were experiencing psychological distress, financial 
hardship, and social isolation due to the pandemic. 
Expanding the scope of support has been driven 
by Queensland-based research, community 
engagement, and the experiences of PLHIV during 

the pandemic. 
As an essential health service, we continued to 
provide in-person support where needed across 
our programs, while moving other services to phone, 
text, and online via our website chat function and 
Zoom. Our peer services team continued to deliver 
peer navigation, peer social groups, and workshops 
for our community.

QPP would like to acknowledge and thank our clients, 
who have been most accommodating in working with 
us to navigate COVID-19 restrictions. Your patience 
and understanding have been most appreciated.

In recognition of the vulnerabilities and the information 
and support needs of PLHIV during the pandemic, 
QPP sought additional funding from Queensland 
Health to deliver a Community Engagement and 
Education Project. Primarily delivered by our peer 
services program, the project aimed to:



STRATEGIC GOAL 1

As PLHIV, we know that adherence to medications is 
important to stop the progression of HIV in ourselves and 
prevent onward transmission. Encouragingly, on exit from 
QPP Life+ services, people’s adherence to their treatment 
increased by almost 11%.

We would like to acknowledge and thank our highly skilled, committed, and passionate team at QPP and 
across all our programs, who continue to work hard to realise QPP’s vision of creating a better future for 
PLHIV. We appreciate their efforts in what has been a challenging time for all our community as we navigate 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Percentage of HIV medication taken in the last month

EXIT MEAN

INTAKE MEAN88.55%   -

97.52%   -
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Life+ Program: Case Management 
Support 
QPP provides case management support to assist PLHIV to address a range of issues that impact health 
and wellbeing. The program aims to support people to overcome barriers to engaging with HIV care and 
treatment, while empowering them to build on their existing strengths and skills to effectively self-manage life 
with HIV.

Our case management framework uses a planned approach, tailoring interventions and support to individual 
needs and circumstances. QPP’s highly skilled case management team works with people to identify issues, 
explore options, and jointly develop goals to address concerns.

We supported 304 PLHIV through the case management program this year.

Common areas for support include treatment access and adherence, housing, mental health, substance 
use, financial stress, and stigma and discrimination. Demand increased this year from people experiencing 
COVID-19-related emotional and psychological distress, as well as HIV- or COVID-19-related immigration 
issues. Further, more people experienced homelessness and a lack of available and affordable housing after 
the cessation of Department of Housing COVID-19 support. 

Our team of 10 case managers are based in Cairns, the Sunshine Coast, Brisbane, and the Gold Coast. They 
provide outreach services for people across the state, including in rural and regional locations.

QPP case managers continue to work closely with the HIV Public Health Team (HPHT), with whom we share a 
productive and collegial relationship. Together, we support people with complex challenges that impact their 
ability to engage with HIV care. Our collaborative coordinated care approach achieves great outcomes for 
people.



Positive feedback from clients is gratifying and reassuring, particularly when achieving outcomes can take 
significant effort by the client and case manager, over many months and sometimes years. Here are some 
quotes from clients who have accessed the treatment support program:

 “… Thank you for all the work done for me the past few years. [You] gave me the strength to get  
 through my most difficult times. [You] renewed faith that there are good people in the world willing  
 to help…”

 “… a great relief… would not be possible without your continued support… Thank you… and QPP for  
 all your support.”

Here is what one of our case managers reflected about the support they provide:

 “It is always a joy to witness a person’s growing HIV awareness and willingness to utilise the   
 available services for their own health and wellbeing as I walk alongside them.”

Hours of Case Management Support

TOTAL TIME 
ON CLIENTS

TOTAL TIME 
WITH CLIENTS

TOTAL 
TRAVEL TIME TOTAL

16, 427.08
Hours

14, 035.58
Hours

4,805.33
Hours 35, 267.99

Hours
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RAPID Testing 
Program
RAPID provides a supportive sexual health testing 
experience for those at risk of HIV or who are living 
with HIV, in a peer-led, community-based setting.

The service uses point of care testing for 
HIV and Treponema pallidum (syphilis) using 
immunochromatographic testing devices, as well as 
testing for Chlamydia trichomoniasis and Neisseria 
gonorrhoea using nucleic acid amplification testing 
at the point of care. These tests enable results to 
be delivered on the same day. 

By design, the service seeks to address and mitigate 
known barriers to testing uptake and engagement, 
aiming to increase the proportion of PLHIV who are 
aware of their status.

As a constituent program of QPP, the service 
is informed by – and imbued with – the lived 
experience of HIV, and the service undertakes 
significant work to address HIV-related stigma 
through education and health promotion in each 
consultation.

This year was one of recovery – a cautious, planned 
return to our usual course of business following the 
COVID-related closure of clinic activities. Despite 
the pandemic, client appetite for testing remained 
strong. Occasions of service returned to pre-COVID 
levels by the end of the 2020 calendar year and 
totalled 6,540 over the 2020/2021 financial year.

Over this period, RAPID continued to provide testing 
services at our Fortitude Valley clinic in Brisbane, 
as well as on-campus testing at The University 
of Queensland, sex on premises venue testing at 
Number 29 and Wet, and our co-located testing 
service within the Townsville Sexual Health and HIV 
Service.

The RAPID service has achieved delivering this 
level of sexual health testing while maintaining high 
levels of client satisfaction. For all occasions of 
service, 96% of clients reported high or very high 
satisfaction with the service they received, with 
86.6% reporting very high satisfaction.

In addition to screening for HIV and other STIs, our 
consultations provide peer-delivered education 
and health promotion messaging on a range of 
topics. Peer workers deliver information on HIV and 
STI transmission risk, the benefits of regular testing, 
the benefits of early diagnosis and treatment 
uptake, PrEP and PEP, and undetectable viral load.

Across all education and health promotion domains, 
a large majority of clients have reported significant 
learning. 
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Clients also learn about the modern realities of HIV by 
speaking with staff who share their lived experience 
and with all staff, who educate clients on current 
HIV science. This work has significantly shaped client 
attitudes towards HIV, with 87.8% reporting they 
believe HIV is a manageable health condition.

Throughout the year, RAPID has undertaken several 
novel research projects, continuing to innovate within 
the sexual health space.

RAPID has broadened its geographical reach with 
a mail-out self-testing pilot, distributing the Atomo 
HIV self-testing device across the state. The peer 
support component of the clinic was reworked to 
suit a telehealth modality, and peer testers provided 
sexual health education and health promotion 
messaging to clients by phone.

The Atomo program was particularly successful 
with targeting hard-to-reach populations, with a 
significant proportion of clients reporting having last 
tested over a year ago or never. Thankfully, this work 
will continue more permanently, with funding secured 
to transition the pilot into a regular service offering.

Looking forward, RAPID will continue working to 
improve access to sexual health testing for those 
who are living with or at risk of HIV and to increase 
the proportion of PLHIV who know their status. 
We will also continue our work to dismantle HIV-
related stigma by educating our clients on the lived 
experience of HIV. All in all, we cannot wait to see 
what the coming year brings and remain very excited 
to continue our work.

Note: H = the proportion of clients reporting high knowledge, M = the proportion of clients reporting mod-
erate knowledge, L = the proportion of clients reporting low knowledge, and N = the proportion of clients 
reporting no knowledge. Blue bars represent responses before testing at RAPID, and orange bars repre-
sent responses after testing at RAPID.
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Positively Well Workshop
This year, QPP partnered with Communify and Toowong Private Hospital to deliver a 6-week workshop titled 
Positively Well.

Positively Well aimed to provide education and skills development for participants to support healthy living. 
Workshops were facilitated by health professionals from Toowong Private Hospital and covered topics such 
as:

 • healthy routines
 • sleep
 • physical health and movement
 • leisure skills and life balance
 • self-validation and connection
 • coping with daily stress.

The program provided an HIV safe space for people to explore what living healthy looks like for them and 
seek ways to improve their quality of life. It also provided opportunities for different stories to be heard and 
further connection for PLHIV across the greater Brisbane area.

A peer navigator also attended the sessions to provide specialist HIV knowledge and peer support as 
required.

Six participants completed intake, with at least 75% of participants reporting that the workshops were 
relevant to their needs and experiences and the content was easy to understand.

One participant noted that the sessions “opened up new areas of self-care to investigate”.
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Funding Relief for PLHIV
QPP administers four funds that aim to support PLHIV who are experiencing barriers to engaging with HIV 
treatment and care or financial hardship:

 • The HOPE Fund
 • HOPE Fund+ 
 • Emergency Treatment Fund
 • Fund for clients with complex needs (CCF).

The balance of The HOPE Fund at 30 June 2021, after all grants were awarded and paid, was $107,318.69.

Total HOPE Fund grants awarded to the community

The HOPE Fund
The Hats Off Positive Endeavour (HOPE) Fund was established on 1 February 2006 by co-founders David 
Bermingham and Simon O’Connor to support PLHIV in need in Queensland. The Fund provides small grants 
for goods and services to PLHIV who are experiencing financial hardship, have a demonstrated material 
need, or are looking to improve their lives.

The HOPE Fund is an initiative of Oz Showbiz Cares/Equity Fights AIDS and QPP, in partnership with 
the Queensland Council for LGBTI Health, formerly known as the Queensland AIDS Council. The grants 
committee, comprising a representative from each organisation, decides the outcome of each application.
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“Without the help of QPP and The HOPE Fund, things 
would have been much more difficult given my set of 
circumstances at the time. The work these people and 
organisations do is invaluable. They provide an extra leg 
to stand on... My foundation was held strong because of 
this. I can’t thank you all enough.”

- HOPE Fund recipient
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A total of 29 PLHIV were supported through The HOPE Fund in 2020-2021, with the total amount awarded 
being $27,110.17. Please see the below table and diagram for a breakdown of these grants. 

72%

7%

14%

7%

Household Goods

Education / Training

Services

Other

The HOPE Fund income 

Thanks from The HOPE Fund recipients
“I am extremely grateful to The HOPE Fund for purchasing my washing machine. My experience with applying 
for funding and getting approved has always been fantastic, both this time and also in the past. The process 
was easy, fast, and efficient, with everything taken care of. Without The HOPE Fund helping me out on a 
number of occasions, my life and my children's lives would not have been anywhere near as good. Our home 
would not have been as comfortable, and my life would have been much more stressful. So thank you, thank 
you, thank you, to The HOPE Fund and everyone that works tirelessly to fundraise and to the people and 
organisations that donate.”

“I have known about The HOPE Fund for ages, and yet when it came to me, to my circumstances and needs, 
I didn't think I would get help. Having a vehicle not only allows me to maintain my appointments, it increases 
my options with who I can see. Sometimes the doctor that is right for you is not going to be situated in an 
ideal location, but having independent transport means you can get there.”

Who is eligible to apply to The HOPE Fund?
To see if you are eligible to apply, please visit the QPP website qpp.org.au/living-hiv-staying-healthy/hope-
fund, email hopefund@qpp.org.au, or call 07 3013 5555.

HOPE Fund+
In 2017, the HOPE Fund made a one-off donation to establish the HOPE Fund+ in response to needs that 
other emergency funds were not able to meet. In the past year, HOPE Fund+ has provided $1,275.95 
in financial support for three PLHIV around Queensland. Support was provided for expenses such as  
emergency accommodation, furniture removalist services and certificate fees.

 As of 30 June 2020, there is $12,935 remaining in the HOPE Fund+. 

$862.25

Interest

Total Income

$69.80

$932.05

Total Donations

2019/20 2020/21

40

33

$27,596.20

$836.25

33

23

$27,110.17

$934.83

NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

SUCCESSFUL APPLICANTS

TOTAL AMOUNT AWARDED TO INDIVIDUALS

AVERAGE AMOUNT AWARDED TO INDIVIDUALS

Source Amount

The HOPE Fund applications and grants 
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The HIV ETF is a QPP-managed program that is 
funded by Queensland Health annually. The ETF 
provides short-term financial assistance for all PLHIV 
residing in Queensland (including people ineligible for 
Medicare) experiencing financial hardship to support 
early and ongoing engagement in HIV-related 
treatment and services. 

Support includes clinical consultations for Medicare-
ineligible PLHIV, medication costs, food costs, 
communication costs (e.g., phone credit), travel 
costs, and emergency accommodation costs. Other 
miscellaneous costs that may affect medication 
adherence can also be applied for.  

This year, the ETF provided $18,789.78 of financial 

assistance to 93 PLHIV, of whom 83 were Medicare-
eligible and 10 were Medicare-ineligible. The PLHIV 
supported were born in 28 different countries and 
resided across Queensland.  

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a 
significant increase in the number of individuals 
accessing the ETF. An increase occurred in the 
occasions of access, including some larger expenses 
relating to medication and accommodation. Several 
applications for medication for people eligible for 
Medicare were approved by the ETF Committee 
to support ongoing engagement in treatment. Over 
the year, applications became less frequent, but 
accommodation remained an issue for many.

Fund for People with Complex Needs
The CCF is a special fund provided by Queensland Health to QPP to support people with complex needs. 

To be eligible to access the fund people need to be referred to QPP by the HPHT. The primary aim of the fund 
is to support people with practical assistance to address barriers that are impacting their ability to engage in 
HIV treatment and care.

Applications to the fund are made by the HPHT and QPP case managers for people who are collaboratively 
supported. A committee comprising representatives from QPP and the Communicable Diseases Unit assesses 
applications to the fund.

Over the past year, 39 PLHIV were supported by the CCF in 161 cases for expenses such as medications, 
housing, transport, accommodation and communications. A total of approximately $21,251.00 was expended 
to support people with complex needs.

Emergency Treatment Fund
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QPP
STRATEGIC 
GOAL 2
Facilitate the delivery of peer-based support 
services that meet the needs of the community.



STRATEGIC GOAL 2

Proactively consult with and 
represent PLHIV to ensure their lived 
experience informs service delivery.

Support and educate PLHIV with a 
focus on those newly diagnosed and 
those returning to care or at risk of 
falling out of care to navigate clinical 
and community care services.

Foster peer networks and linkages 
that improve social connectedness 
and reduce isolation.

Actively promote equitable access 
to clinical and related services in rural 
and remote settings, particularly 
among ageing PLHIV.

Recognise the changing funding 
landscape for HIV services and seek 
alternate and diversified income 
sources to reduce reliance on major 
funders.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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Life+ Program: Peer Navigation
At QPP, we recognise the powerful benefits of peer social connection to support PLHIV. 

Our team of peer navigators are PLHIV, using their lived experience and professional training and skills 
to support other PLHIV. Historically, the focus of the peer navigation program was to support people 
to navigate health systems and promote HIV health literacy to navigate a diagnosis. This year, we have 
recognised the importance of expanding the scope of support beyond navigation and education to include 
emotional and social support to facilitate peer connection.

Social and emotional support and opportunities for peer connection have been strengthened by our online 
social groups, online chat portal OLARK, and warm phone line staffed by our peer navigator team. People 
experiencing isolation and other challenges related to COVID-19 have been able to reach out to a peer for 
support.

Our team continues to support people newly diagnosed with HIV. This year, we saw an increase in people 
being referred to the program from diagnosing general practitioners (GPs) in the community. This increase 
was likely supported by the HPHT providing information to diagnosing GPs on the QPP services and 
supports available, particularly from peer navigators.

This is what one GP said about a peer navigator’s impact on a recently diagnosed patient who was struggling 
to come to terms with living with HIV:

Last year, QPP completed a significant review of the Peer Navigation Program, culminating in a report 
that made 33 recommendations for the board’s consideration. All were endorsed by the board for 
implementation over the coming years. 

Recommendations implemented this year included:

 • Review the time-limited brief intervention aspect of service delivery to better meet the  
  needs of PLHIV beyond diagnosis.
 • Streamline referral processes for clients to peer navigators.
 • Appoint peers to the frontline as the HIV interface between QPP and community, 
  providing information and client intake into the service.

QPP has also partnered with 2 Spirits and the Queensland Council for LGBTI Health to support 
establishing 2 Spirits HIV Peer Champions. HIV Peer Champions will assist, support, and guide clients to 
enrol in HIV prevention and treatment services. QPP’s peer navigators will assist with developing and 
delivering training for HIV 2 Spirits HIV Peer Champions. 

52 153
ENGAGEMENTS 

VIA ONLINE 
PORTAL

CLIENTS SUPPORTED 
BY PEER 

NAVIGATORS

“It’s a difficult time, and they came out of it more aware, more settled, 
less troubled, more optimistic, less in crisis, and confident they had a 
place to go if they needed, people who they could go to if they needed 
them.”
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Peer Education: HIV and COVID-19
QPP has used several strategies to keep people well-connected during the COVID-19 pandemic. We 
have also ensured our community has been well-informed with evidence-based emerging research and 
information on HIV and COVID-19.

COVID-19 has raised issues for people with HIV, including the risk of acquisition, vulnerability to serious 
illness, and questions related to vaccination. QPP has provided education through blog posts, videos, social 
media, our website, and online groups.

A total of 23 blog posts were developed and posted on QPP’s website. All were promoted via QPP’s 
Facebook page and community newsletter and included the following types of updates: 

 • COVID-19 community updates included current statistics in Queensland and an   
  overview of evolving situations, such as outbreaks and associated restrictions. These   
  also promoted QPP services and resources, including emergency funding. 
 • Living with HIV and COVID-19 updates provided overviews of early research regarding  
  PLHIV and their risk of contracting COVID-19. These addressed community concerns   
  surrounding the supply of antiretrovirals in Queensland.
 • Information posts addressing HIV comorbidities and associated COVID-19 risk covered  
  cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and mental health and wellbeing.   
 • COVID-19 vaccine information updates covered current research and provided help for  
  navigating the vaccination process in Queensland.
 • COVID-19 infection control strategy posts addressed physical distancing, mask-wearing,  
  and research regarding mask effectiveness aligning with government directions.

Videos
Three videos were produced and distributed through our online platforms:

 • Promoting our peer navigation program and online supports.
 • A call for stories around how people were living and coping with lockdown.
 • An interview with Dr Darren Russell around questions and concerns about the vaccine  
  and its rollout.
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QPP Social Groups
Peer connection remains a high priority for PLHIV. During the pandemic, supporting PLHIV to stay engaged 
and socially connected has been even more important.

QPP has continued to operate social groups this year and adapted modes of delivery to the changing 
environment of the pandemic. QPP facilitated a blended mix of online and in-person social groups to 
ensure continuity of community support.

Online groups
A total of 14 social groups were delivered via Zoom for the Queensland PLHIV community. One of the 
benefits of providing online groups was connecting people across the state, from regional and rural areas 
to metropolitan areas. These social groups were more light-hearted to give people a break from all things 
COVID. We had some chats about inspiring stories, favourite books, movies and streaming shows, and 
a trivia session. We also had some conversation sessions around R U OK day, World Gratitude Day, and 
World AIDS Day.

In addition to the social groups, QPP facilitated linkages with our HIV sister organisations and partnered with 
the National Association of People with HIV Australia (NAPWHA) for online connection. Eight nationwide 
online chat and information sessions focusing on mental health and the moving landscape of COVID-19 
were facilitated by NAPWHA with QPP’s attendance and support.

Community Conversations
Since May 2021 the National Association of People with HIV Australia have hosted a series of national 
online meetings, Community Conversations. The project aims to better understand the experiences and 
needs of all PLHIV, including creating conversations with Asian men and Latinx community members living 
with HIV who were born overseas.

As an extension to our newly formed Multicultural Group, we decided to support the Latinx Community 
Conversation events by organising a small Latin Fiesta with some of our Spanish-speaking community 
members. Amazing Latin American treats like empanadas and nachos were followed by great conversation 
in the nationwide Zoom chat. Participants had the chance to share their experiences of living with HIV in 
Australia and some of their diagnosis stories from both here and their countries of origin. It is always 
humbling and a privilege to share in stories and journeys, even more so when expressed in one’s own 
language.



STRATEGIC GOAL 2

Kiswahili Group
It is important for PLHIV to have social connections in languages other than English. Acknowledging this, we 
developed an online social group to support Kiswahili (Swahili) speakers in our community. With one of QPP’s 
peer navigators being a Kiswahili speaker we have a good foundation to provide social connections.

Kiswahili is a lingua franca of the African Great Lakes region; almost 90 million people speak it as a first or 
second language. An official language in Tanzania, Uganda, Rwanda, and Kenya, it is also recognised as a 
minority language in Burundi, Mozambique, and parts of the Democratic Republic of the Congo.

In October 2020, QPP held its first online group, and a few community members attended in person as well. 
The initial meeting highlighted the needs of culturally and linguistically diverse communities around access 
to technology and training and support in using these emerging ways of connecting. In the coming year, 
we hope this group can regain some momentum and become an increasing part of the QPP social group 
landscape.

In-person groups
QPP was able to recommence in-person social groups in late 2020.

 • Saturday Brisbane BBQ – 90 attendees
 • Mature-Aged and Long-Term Survivors – 44 attendees
 • Gold Coast Social – 14 attendees

This year, QPP started a Multicultural Group to support our culturally diverse communities. The group 
provides a safe space for people who are new to Australia or may not have English as their first language. 
The group has met four times, sharing food from all around the world, and enjoying karaoke events. The need 
for this type of social group has been illustrated, with 29 individuals attending the group over its duration.

QPP would like to thank our social group coordinators and peer navigators for 
their support in facilitating in-person and online social groups: Jason, Garth, 
Glenn, Lara, Simeon, Max, Wirthlin, and Jane.
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QPP Community 
Advisory Group
As a peer-based organisation, QPP centres 
positive voices and values the importance 
of the lived experience of HIV. Everything 
we do is underpinned by the principles of 
meaningful involvement of people with HIV 
(MIPA).

MIPA principles recognise that PLHIV are 
integral and central to the HIV response. 
MIPA values PLHIV as a resource providing 
lived experience and knowledge to help 
inform the design, implementation, and 
evaluation of programs and services.

In recognition of MIPA and the need 
to engage with Queensland PLHIV 
communities, QPP established a CAG. The 
CAG seeks to engage with the diverse 
PLHIV across Queensland and provide a 
platform for individual and collective voices. 
The CAG assists QPP to identify current 
and emerging community needs and 
informs its strategic priorities in service 
delivery, advocacy, health education, and 
information.

Following a recruitment process, QPP 
appointed nine CAG members and provided 
training facilitated by Health Consumers 
Queensland (HCQ). We have been 
fortunate to have representation from a 
diverse range of communities including 
women, migrant (African and Asian) and 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, 
LGBTQ people, heterosexual people, and 
young people.

Since its inception, the CAG has connected 
both online and in person. Members 
have further developed their skills with 
new technologies and creating meeting 
protocols and the CAG terms of reference.

In the last 12 months, the CAG held eight 
meetings: one induction, four training 
sessions with HCQ, and three bi-monthly 
meetings. CAG members are remunerated 
for their time, following HCQ guidelines.

“I think that the QPP CAG is a great 
opportunity for the diverse positive 
community voice to be heard directly 
at the board level of the Queensland 
peak agency. It's a great example 
of the MIPA/GIPA principle and the 
‘nothing about us without us’ model. 
Since being involved in the CAG, I have 
been involved in projects that have 
positive flow-on effects for all PLHIV 
in Queensland, many of who would 
be otherwise marginalised and face 
intersectional disadvantage.”

- A comment from your CAG
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Become a QPP Member!
QPP would like to invite all PLHIV residing in Queensland to join us in supporting the 
delivery of Queensland-wide services for people living with HIV. Membership is free, 
and as an ordinary member, you will:

 - Gain voting rights at our annual general meeting
 - Attain eligibility to be a sitting board member of QPP
 - Never miss out on events for PLHIV
 - Be kept informed on all the latest national and international news   
  about HIV
 - Have more opportunities to meet and connect with other PLHIV and   
  much more.

Any member of the public (regardless of HIV status) and organisations are able to 
become QPP associate members. 

To become a member, just give us a quick call on 1800 636 241, or email us at
memberservices@qpp.org.au and ask for a membership form to be sent to you 
today.
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HIV/STI prevention and testing: 

 • Pooling methodology study for chlamydia and gonorrhoea testing.
 • Gonococcal ciprofloxacin resistance study.
 • Upper reproductive tract infection study.
 • HIV self-testing vending machine project.
 • Exploring the relationship between HIV literacy, risks, and networks of newly arrived   
  Asian-born gay, bisexual, and other MSM.
 • Migrant Blood Borne Virus and Sexual Health Survey (MiBBs). 

QPP Research Activities
QPP is an active participant in research with state and national research institutions, government, and 
other community-based organisations. We value research that demonstrates the impact of the services 
we provide and builds an evidence base to assist us to better understand the needs of our communities.

Over the past year, QPP had four co-authored articles accepted into journals such as AIDS Care, Health 
and Social Care in the Community, and Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care.

QPP had several abstracts accepted for the Australasian Society of HIV Medicine (ASHM) conference in 
2020, including HIV Associated Neurocognitive Disease (HAND) Research, HIV Patient Journey Mapping 
(T2T), and Living Positive Queensland (LPQ) in a Time of COVID-19 (LPQ). QPP was also successful in 
having an abstract accepted for an oral presentation titled ‘Is It HIV or Just Old Age - Uncertainties of 
Successful Ageing with HIV’.

This section summarises the projects in which QPP is involved. 
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HIV treatment and care, including research focused on the 
experiences of PLHIV: 

• RAPID partnership with Metro North Sexual Health and HIV Service to provide a bi-weekly 
treatment clinic at our Fortitude Valley site

• Recently Diagnosed and the Impact of Support of the Experience of HIV (RISE) 
• Enhancing Pathways, Workforce and Capacity for HAND Assessment for People Living with 

HIV
• T2T - following the experiences of people from diagnosis of HIV to engagement in treatment 

and beyond
• Living Positive Queensland – examining the lives of people with HIV in relation to ageing, social 

isolation, and access to services in regional and rural areas
• Building a better picture of LGBTI, Sistergirl, and Brotherboy Ageing and Caring in Queensland
• Exploring Sexual Health Literacy as Social Practices within Migrant Networks
• CLIO (cohort of HIV women), a research study that explores the needs of women.

QPP is also participating in the following national projects and 
advisory groups:

 • NAPWHA HIV Literacy Framework
 • NAPWHA HIV 101 GP Project 
 • NAPWHA National Peer Workforce Development Project
 • RISE National Advisory Group 
 • National Anal Cancer Advisory Group 
 • HOLA - HIV Online Learning Australia 
 • W3 Project Advisory Group
 • Poz Qol and Patient Reported Outcomes (PROMs) Advisory Group
 • BBV Resilient Ageing and End-of-Life Planning Project
 • 2 Spirits HIV Peer Champions Project.

We would like to acknowledge our researcher partners across Australia and Queensland who collaborate 
with QPP to build a better future for people with HIV.
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QPP
STRATEGIC 
GOAL 3
Reduce stigma and discrimination associated 
with HIV.



STRATEGIC GOAL 1

Deliver community education 
initiatives that increase awareness 
of HIV.

Support PLHIV experiencing stigma 
and discrimination while building 
personal resilience.

Identify and address systemic 
stigma and discrimination.

1.

2.

3.
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Stigma and Discrimination
QPP recognises the difficulty that our PLHIV community faces with stigma and discrimination daily. Modern 
medicine and scientific strides in understanding and treating HIV have allowed many PLHIV to manage 
their health successfully and achieve improved health outcomes. However, a continued lack of widespread 
understanding of HIV means stigma and discrimination remain among the final barriers for the community.

Our program

The Stigma and Discrimination program provides general information for clients with HIV-related legal 
issues and facilitates referrals to appropriate legal and non-legal services. Case management has 
provided support for topics including discrimination, health law, disclosure, criminal law, domestic and 
family violence, and migration. The Stigma and Discrimination Case Manager engages with PLHIV to work 
towards solution-based outcomes while building autonomy and personal resilience.

Growing need in our community

These unprecedented times have seen a substantial increase in demand for the Stigma and Discrimination 
program. 

Between 2018 and 2020, cases increased by 25%. This excludes lower-level stigma and discrimination 
enquiries, which have also grown exponentially with the pandemic. In the last financial year, 46 PLHIV were 
supported by QPP’s Stigma and Discrimination Case Manager.

Education

The program continues to develop legal literacy within the community and the QPP team. This year, 
many clients have shared concerns around migration. The program has provided general information to 
assist in understanding health waivers, guidelines for health practitioners, and help in finding migration 
agents. Support letters have also been provided to clients, outlining the current understanding of HIV and 
treatment.

QPP’s HIV Disclosure Guide is an important education tool for PLHIV. The guide is widely distributed to 
PLHIV and is on the QPP website. Since September 2018, it has had over 30,500 views and 132 downloads.

We look forward to continuing to extend our HIV-focused legal literacy to the wider community.
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Partnership with HIV/AIDS Legal Centre

QPP has continued its partnership with the HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC), providing legal advice and 
representation to PLHIV experiencing HIV-related legal issues. HALC supported 58 QPP-referred clients 
this year, including for immigration, discrimination, privacy, and insurance. The support provided by HALC 
has proved invaluable for QPP clients. Our client referral pathway has allowed greater hope for better legal 
outcomes for clients, as well as contributing to more equitable access to justice.

Expanding our legal networks

To meet greater demand for HIV-related legal information and support, the Stigma and Discrimination 
Case Manager program continuously works to expand our referral networks with community and private 
legal services. QPP has continued to diversify legal pathways for clients by increasing its pro bono network. 
This year, the Colin Biggers & Paisley, Jones Day, and McCullough Robertson pro bono teams have joined 
the network. Our Stigma and Discrimination Case Manager is actively engaging with the legal community to 
enable partnerships, and we look forward to announcing more in the upcoming year.

HIV and the law

The scientific advent of U=U and other medical progress is not yet well-understood in the broader legal 
system. QPP has continued important lobbying and education work with our HIV and the Law Project 
around the overcriminalisation of HIV.

Many PLHIV are vulnerable to unnecessary disclosure and escalation of issues when engaging with the legal 
system. QPP has consulted with the State Department of Justice and Attorney General to bring our legal 
system in line with modern medicine and the current scientific consensus of U=U.

In collaboration with the legal community, health professionals, and the PLHIV community, QPP is also 
considering an HIV and the Law Roundtable to allow consultation on the problem of HIV criminalisation and 
the proposed approach.

“First of all, I am really grateful for the support. It brings so much warmth 
and joy knowing and seeing how far the education and management of 
HIV have come to now. Thank you so much for the advocacy and support, 

it means the world to me and my partner.”

“You are all simply the best and thank you again and again. We sure hope 
for good news on the way. Am glad I was able to get this help from QPP.”

“Thank you for reaching out to me. People like you and others helping me 
keep my faith going.”



40 QPP ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

RAPID Stigma-Reducing Activities
Peer education is a central tenet of the RAPID program, and this philosophy underscores 
our approach to addressing stigma in the clinical space. RAPID’s peer workers are at the 
coalface of sexual health testing, well-placed to shape narratives around HIV and improve 
our clients’ understanding of it.

We actively model appropriate language when talking to clients about HIV and often ad-
dress stigmatised phrasing. The service also undertakes significant work in promoting sex-
ual health messaging around U=U and provides a space for clients to explore and increase 
their understanding of current HIV science.

RAPID staff living with HIV also courageously share their lived experience with our clients 
– adding a richness and depth to a client’s understanding that is seldom replicated in other 
settings.

These approaches yield significant improvements in our clients’ understanding of the con-
temporary reality of living with HIV, with 87.8% reporting post-consultation that they be-
lieve HIV is a manageable health condition. Furthermore, 71% of clients have reported high 
knowledge of U=U after speaking with a peer tester – compared to only 28% beforehand.
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World AIDS Day 2020
Held on 1 December, World AIDS Day is the longest-running awareness initiative of its kind. Since 1988, World AIDS 
Day and the iconic red ribbon raise awareness about issues surrounding HIV/AIDS and commemorate those lost to 
the pandemic. While fundraising is no longer a primary focus, funds raised for World AIDS Day across Queensland are 
donated to The HOPE Fund.

QPP coordinates the Queensland World AIDS Day Alliance (QWADA), established in 2005 as a collaboration between 
several Queensland non-government organisations and Queensland Health. QWADA ensures the successful delivery 
of World AIDS Day activities and plans the distribution of resources, advertising, and events. The Queensland Council 
for LGBTI Health has been a long-standing member of QWADA, and in 2020 we collaborated closely to deliver World 
AIDS Day to Queensland.
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With the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic, QWADA increased the use of digital media to ease the 
threat of snap lockdowns disrupting or cancelling events and ensure that all were safe to participate in 
Queensland’s World AIDS Day activities.

The theme for World AIDS Day 2020 was “Now More Than Ever”.

Now More Than Ever acknowledged the many marginalised groups in Australia who have been hardest hit 
during the COVID-19 pandemic and the need to reach out and support those communities. The theme 
highlighted the importance of maintaining timely testing, diagnosis, and access to treatment, plus support 
and care for PLHIV.

Despite the priority of COVID-19, people with or at risk of HIV must not be forgotten. It is important to 
continue our efforts to prevent HIV, remove barriers to testing and treatment, and provide services without 
judgement and stigma. With that in mind, QWADA created five sub-messages:

• Now more than ever… we can all end stigma.
• Now more than ever… it’s time to remember.
• Now more than ever… U=U is bringing us together.
• Now more than ever… testing is convenient.
• Now more than ever… support is accessible.

The Queensland World AIDS Day campaign was a major success, and QPP coordinated the following 
activities:

• A new digital awareness campaign was created, including a downloadable social media pack. Using 
both paid and organic reach, the five awareness messages and information about World AIDS 
Day reached over 24,000 people throughout Queensland. Over 150 people and organisations 
downloaded the Queensland World AIDS Day media pack.

• Red ribbons and World AIDS Day kits were distributed to over 150 pharmacies and other locations 
across Queensland. We are grateful for the assistance of the Pharmacy Guild.

• Media coverage included radio interviews with PLHIV representatives.
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• Prominent buildings and structures were lit in red throughout Queensland, including:
o Parliament House, City Hall, QPAC, Conrad Treasury, Story Bridge, Kurilpa Bridge, Victoria 

Bridge, Suncorp Stadium, Gasworks Newstead, Story Bridge, King George Square, balls in 
Reddacliffe Place (outside Treasury Casino) Wickham Street Carpark, Tropical Display Dome 
Botanic Gardens, Sandgate City Town Hall, Town Hall Mackay, Queensland Country Bank 
Stadium and Bridge Townsville, Water Tower Longreach, City Hall Annexe Toowoomba, Victoria 
Bridge, and Heritage Façade Lighting Rockhampton.

• Light-pole banners were erected on major roads in Brisbane, the Sunshine Coast, and Ipswich.
• Queensland Ambulance Service, Queensland Police employees, and Queensland Government 

politicians wore the red ribbon on World AIDS Day.

Regional grants supported through World AIDS Day activities in 2020 were:

 • World AIDS Day HIV and Community Forum – South Sports Club, Acacia Ridge
 • World AIDS Day Morning Tea, Hervey Bay
 • World AIDS Day Morning Tea, Maryborough
 • ATSICHS Mackay World AIDS Day Event
 • World AIDS Day Remembrance Service, Townsville
 • World AIDS Day Candlelight Vigil, Cairns
 • World AIDS Day Karaoke Night, Cape York.

QPP also worked closely with the Queensland Council for LGBTI Health and provided speakers for the 
Queensland Candlelight Vigils in Brisbane and Cairns. 

QPP, the Queensland Council for LGBTI Health, and QWADA are again collaborating closely on the plans for 
World AIDS Day 2021. For 2021, QWADA has expanded its membership to also include community members 
and advocates. This will ensure that World AIDS Day in Queensland is always informed by positive voices.

QPP and QWADA thank everyone who supported World AIDS Day in 2020. The success of this year’s 
campaign would not have been possible without you. Whether you purchased a ribbon, volunteered, or 
attended an event, we thank you. Your commitment and generosity are what brings this campaign to life.
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CWC Cabaret
After three decades of the Citizens Welfare Committee (CWC) Charity Cabaret, not even a global COVID-19 
pandemic was going to stop the beloved event in 2021. With the unwavering support of The Sportsman 
Hotel, a COVID-safe and limited-numbers event was held in March, featuring over 30 drag performers.

Since 1989, the entirely volunteer-based CWC has helped to raise much-needed money for those 
impacted by HIV/AIDS in Queensland. Each CWC Cabaret has wowed audiences with a unique cavalcade 
of performers who donate their time, talent, and enthusiasm to one of the most anticipated events on the 
Brisbane drag calendar.

Master of ceremonies, performer, and organiser extraordinaire Betty Nature has been working tirelessly 
since 2004 to craft an evening for all to enjoy. The event includes an array of drag identities from all 
Brisbane queer venues, as well as some of Queensland’s best-loved performers from years gone by.

As we aim to end HIV transmissions in Queensland, the CWC remembers and supports those living with 
HIV and reminds us that HIV will remain an important focus of our communities for decades to come.

Even with restricted numbers, this year’s event fundraised an impressive amount. We thank Betty and all 
the performers, sponsors, and patrons for their continuing support of CWC. The proceeds help provide 
peer support events and activities that foster empowerment and resilience by enhancing self-esteem and 
social connectedness among our diverse, and sometimes isolated, PLHIV community.

NAPWHA update
The COVID-19 pandemic dominated the HIV landscape in Australia in 2020 and will likely do so for 
the foreseeable future. It has brought significant challenges for Australia’s HIV-positive communities 
and therefore NAPWHA, as the national peak body advocating on behalf of PLHIV and our member 
organisations.

Following a PLHIV community survey conducted in April 2020, NAPWHA sought to assess the impact of 
COVID-19. With 147 people responding to the survey, this national subset provided valuable information on 
our respondents’ most pressing needs. It led to a community health promotion initiative – Chinwag: Positive 
Connection napwha.org.au/chinwag-positive-connection/ – a series of social and informational community 
forums held via video conferencing throughout 2020 and intermittently in early 2021. The community 
forums were designed to meet those needs for PLHIV across Australia, with HIV peer supporters (from 
member organisations across Australia, including QPP) as part of the core team.

As the COVID-19 vaccine rollout began in March 2021, NAPWHA continued to inform the community about 
it through informational videos and community webinars. PLHIV community leaders interviewed keynote 
clinicians and researchers, offering a breakdown of new information and aiming to allay community 
concerns. Updates continue to be published via the NAPWHA website. 

Pictured: Chris 
Howard (Executive 
Programs Manager, 
QPP) spoke with 
Dr Darren Russell 
(Director of Sexual 
Health, Cairns 
Sexual Health) on 
17 March 2021, a 
significant day of the 
Australian COVID-19 
vaccine rollout 
(Phase 1A and 1B).
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In June 2021, NAPWHA teamed up with The Institute of Many to lead national community discussions 
about quality of life for PLHIV. A ground-breaking international study by ViiV Healthcare called Positive 
Perspectives 2 found that Australia leads the world on treatment satisfaction, yet PLHIV still report much 
lower general and sexual wellbeing. A community town hall webinar informed an exciting NAPWHA sym-
posium for participants in the forthcoming joint Australasian Sexual Health and HIV & AIDS Conferences 
(September 2021). The symposium asks the vital question: are we on track to achieve quality of life for all 
people with HIV by 2030?

Two major NAPWHA campaigns were released in 2020/2021. Now More Than Ever responded to the 
Australian theme for 2020’s World AIDS Day – napwha.org.au/world-aids-day-2020/. HIV is: Just a Part 
of Me, created through a partnership with Gilead Sciences, featured six exceptional people centring their 
lived experience, resilience, joy, and hope in an inspiring video campaign – napwha.org.au/hiv-is-just-a-
part-of-me/

The NAPWHA National Members Forum and Special General Meeting are being held via video 
conferencing during the COVID-19 pandemic.

‘Taking Control of Our Health’ was the theme of the 6th National Day of Women Living with HIV – napwha.
org.au/national-day-of-women-living-with-hiv-2021/ – in March 2021. The Femfatales, NAPWHA’s 
national network of women living with HIV, held a series of community events. The Positive Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Network also met face to face in May 2021.

All NAPWHA’s activities are informed by an ongoing commitment to bring together HIV-positive 
community representatives and the leadership of our member organisations, ensuring the meaningful 
engagement of PLHIV.
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QPP
STRATEGIC 
GOAL 4
Demonstrate an ongoing commitment to 
organisational best practice.
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Sustain a high-quality workforce 
through the creation of a healthy 
and supportive work environment.

Create responsive services that 
are informed by emerging trends, 
continuous quality improvement, and 
the evaluation of outcomes across 
all aspects of service delivery.

Strengthen individual capacity of 
staff and board to meet personal 
and professional goals.

Implement models of governance 
that support high standards of 
leadership, sustainability of the 
organisation, and diverse funding 
sources.

Strengthen relationships and 
understanding of QPP’s service 
model with key stakeholders and 
industry partners.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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Executive Operations Report
As we reflect on 2020/2021, we acknowledge that 
this has not been an easy year, but we are so proud 
of what we have achieved.

This year, we have experienced many changes and 
improvements in our best-practice standards across 
human resources, finance, property management, 
communications, work health and safety, quality, and 
administration.

Managing with largely the same resources, we have 
embraced a risk-based approach to compliance. We 
have worked to build our internal capability, provided 
better tools and information to make our service 
delivery easier, and collaborated with auditors and 
other organisations to improve. These reforms 
have all borne significant fruit with greatly improved 
systems and compliance.

Of course, more always remains to be done. By 
investing in new technology, such as our new website, 
budgeting software, and new digital abilities, staff are 
freed up to provide more valuable assistance to our 
community.

We have focused this year on health, wellbeing, and 
work–life balance for our employees. They need 
to keep delivering their outstanding service to our 
community without stress and overload. We were 

fortunate to receive some small grants to provide 
much-needed funds to support this and protect us 
with personal protective equipment for the COVID-19 
response.

In March, we were grateful to be able to participate 
in a staff and board face-to-face conference. 
We focused on values and connections. This was a 
powerful experience shared by all. I would like to thank 
the organising committee for their participation, input, 
hard work, and excitement in delivering the event.

QPP has continued its significant focus on human 
capital, with external consultants working with our 
leadership team to build strong management 
systems and processes. 2020 saw the design and 
delivery of our first Employment Engagement Survey, 
which enabled staff to provide robust and honest 
feedback on how we performed as an employer as 
well as an organisation for the PLHIV community.

This survey demonstrated that our staff are 
intrinsically motivated by social purpose, with a high 
commitment to our clients and the community we 
serve. The results also led to the establishment of 
a new and improved leadership team, an increased 
focus on internal communication, and the review of 
an employee recognition program to be implemented 
in 2021/22.



STRATEGIC GOAL 4

During the year, QPP improved human resources 
management systems with clearer recruitment 
practices and policies. We revised employment 
contracts and introduced new induction and 
onboarding programs to ensure our staff start with 
the right level of support.

Management have been supported in capability-
building in all areas of leadership, including 
recruitment, feedback discussions, and performance 
management, which we will continue to build on in 
2021/22. It has been exciting and already allowed 
significant learning.

The team facilitated QPP’s first, highly successful 
online annual general meeting (AGM) in December 
2020. We learned a lot in this process, and we plan 
to make 2021’s digital AGM the best yet.

COVID-19 again disrupted face-to-face meetings. 
Therefore, many of these initiatives were responses 
to the shift in how we needed to deliver our services. 
I am confident that our work to transform how we 
support the community will be greatly beneficial.

I am very proud of the work of our administration 
team, often unseen but always producing and 
delivering: dealing with enquiries, administering The 
HOPE Fund applications, maintaining quality and 
asset registers, supporting the teams with their 
technology and other support needs, responding 
and coordinating property and vehicle maintenance 
issues, supporting the leadership team, maintaining 

systems and procedures, and many other small 
projects. They are committed to improving the 
services QPP delivers with passion, commitment, 
diligence, critical thinking, can-do attitude, and 
positive culture focus. 

We have welcomed additional capacity with a part-
time communication role to increase our social 
media presence, coordinate the update of the 
QPP website, and provide essential support to our 
community engagement activities and World AIDS 
Day campaign. 

We are incredibly proud of all we have achieved and 
how we have embraced the challenges of change 
and growth during this time, as individuals, a team, 
and an organisation. I am constantly inspired by our 
community and staff and honoured to be a leader 
of this organisation.

Jane

“The way I see it, if you want the rainbow, you’ve got 
to put up with the rain.” – Dolly Parton
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Over the past 12 months, we have focused strongly 
on consulting the community and improving the 
quality, safety, accessibility, efficiency, and impact 
of our services. 

A need has emerged to adapt to new opportunities 
and challenges. We have responded to the risks 
inherent in changing service delivery methods, 
particularly with the COVID-19 pandemic and its 
limitations on face-to-face work. We have managed 
the sheer growth in demand for our services, the 
distribution of our workforce (especially in regional 
areas), and of course, maximising the value of 
services for our clients and community.

Solving increasingly complex risk management 
issues alongside service delivery innovation 
has become the everyday domain of [a non-
government organisation]. QPP has had to be 
ready to act on the issues facing our sector with 
dynamic and nimble risk management strategies. 
This integration and awareness has been critical for 
QPP’s leadership team this year.

The intensive review of the QPP Quality Management 

System highlighted just how significantly quality 
and safety impact every aspect of organisational 
performance, from governance (board and CEO) 
and management processes (CEO and leadership 
team) to community and client access, satisfaction, 
and outcomes.

The operational management of QPP’s quality 
system is a three-tiered model, involving processes, 
procedures, and the people who are responsible 
for its implementation. Establishing, managing, and 
regularly reviewing the quality management system 
maintains legislative and compliance requirements, 
whilst increasing proficiency in managing risks for 
the improvement of safer and quality services to 
clients and community.

This year, the configuration of the quality 
management system was delivered to all staff and 
board members as part of the annual face-to-face 
staff development training day. Feedback from 
this event illustrated its efficacy and value, with 
increased staff comprehension of the system and 
an appreciation of how quality must be integrated 
at all levels of the organisation.

Accreditation

QPP is currently working towards accreditation as part of our service agreement with Queensland Health 
through a self-audit within the Human Services Quality Framework (HSQF). This auditing framework sits 
within the Human Services Quality Standards (HSQS). As part of the self-audit for accreditation, QPP 
is reviewing the systems, policies, and procedures of the organisation in its entirety. In alignment with 
Queensland Health, the HSQS will include additional standards to encompass the clinical components of 
RAPID testing.

Policy and procedure

QPP reviewed the quality document system for policies and procedures. All procedures have been 
reviewed to ensure contemporary best practice and legislative compliance, then collated into relevant 
Standard Operating Procedures.

Service user focus

QPP facilitates several modes of service user engagement for suggestions, feedback, and complaints as 
part of our commitment to continuous improvement and best practice:

This feedback is collated, analysed, and presented to the leadership team and board, who use the data to 
review and inform service planning and improvement. It is also presented to the PLHIV community through 
the CAG and to Queensland Health in service agreement reporting.

Quality
The year in review
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In February, the QPP staff and board were privileged 
to participate in a 3-day face-to-face conference. 
A planning committee, comprising staff across all 
teams, worked together to create a meaningful 
conference full of relationship-building and goal-
setting activities. We are incredibly grateful for 
this amazing opportunity, and we were overjoyed 
to see many of our QPP colleagues from around 
Queensland, who we had sorely missed due to the 
COVID-19 lockdown and travel restrictions.

After a challenging year, this conference gave us 
a welcoming, refreshing, and inspiring environment 
where we could connect, collaborate, innovate, and 
reflect. We aimed to foster positive relationships 
and trust across the whole organisation, create new 
memories together, and build self-determination 
and resilience. Our goal was to feel strong and 
united to continue our service commitments to our 
clients and community.

QPP had the privilege of welcoming Geoff Manu, 
former CEO of QuIHN, to facilitate our workshops. 
With Geoff, we homed in on our individual passion 
and purpose for working at QPP. It was uplifting and 
affirming to know that regardless of role or walk of 
life, the whole team have strong common values 
about what we do as an organisation and our 
commitment to the positive community. As a group, 
we identified some of these core values and worked 
to creatively illustrate them: diversity, belonging, 
equity, connection, empathy, freedom, and quality. 
Whether we considered ourselves ‘artistic’ or not, 

we all had a blast collaging, drawing, writing, and 
piecing together QPP’s collective passion and 
purpose.

We explored QPP’s Quality and Management 
System and discussed how quality impacts all staff 
to ensure we deliver the best possible services 
to our community. The presentations from our 
leadership team allowed us to see how our work 
individually aligns with QPP’s strategic plan and 
where we fit in QPP’s future growth.

In our downtime and in between workshops, we 
made the most of our trip with fun activities including 
early morning yoga and walks, a board game night, 
and a very physical and challenging Survivor team-
building challenge.

Overall, the conference provided our staff and 
board with valuable time to develop our strategic 
direction with strong organisational values and 
share in the commitment to building QPP’s unified 
vision for the future, to ensure the sustainability 
and longevity of our services. We trust this will bring 
exciting new opportunities and outcomes for all 
PLHIV in Queensland.

We acknowledge and thank the planning committee 
for all their hard work. This was a challenging year 
for many, at times isolating and uncertain. We hope 
to keep up the positive energy and momentum we 
created at the conference to ensure we build a 
strong team where everyone feels included.

February Staff and Board Face-to-
Face
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Staff Movements, Tributes, and New 
Staff
In the last 12 months, QPP has gone through an incredible period of transformation in our staffing and 
structure. Through this journey, we have sadly said goodbye to several of our wonderful, talented, and 
inspirational colleagues. To our QPP friends, we wish you all the best in your future careers. 

This year, we have been privileged to welcome some wonderful individuals to our growing team.

Leilani | Stigma and Discrimination Case Manager

QPP are incredibly blessed to have a legal brain on the team. Leilani, our 
Stigma and Discrimination Case Manager, has a deep interest in medical 
law and public health. Since September 2020, Leilani has been supporting 
QPP clients with navigating a range of legal issues impacting their lives and 
wellbeing. She has been working on an HIV Legal Roundtable, with a focus 
on the decriminalisation of HIV in Queensland, as well as building towards 
extending QPP’s legal networks in the community legal and private practice 
space.

Ellen | HIV/STI Test Facilitator RAPID

Ellen has a background in biomedical science, philosophy, care work, and 
disability support roles. Ellen is passionate about sexual health promotion, 
consent education, and disability justice issues of sexuality. They are involved 
in community organising and host a radio show on 4ZZZ. An advocate for 
diversity and inclusion, Ellen brings their enthusiastic energy and loves to 
meet new people.

Mao | HIV/STI Test Facilitator RAPID

Originally from Colombia, Mao has been working to support international 
students in the education sector for the last 6-years. Speaking English as a 
second language has enabled Mao to connect with other non-native English 
speakers at the clinic. Mao is passionate about supporting the community 
and creating a friendly, kind, informative, and stigma-free environment for 
visitors to the clinic every day.

Larah | Organisational Administrator

We welcomed Larah, our new Operations Administrator, to the team. 
Larah has been with us for only a short time but settled in beautifully. 
Her professional background is largely connected to education, previously 
working as an academic librarian, a TESOL educator, and a freelance editor. 
Larah brings a friendly, bubbly energy to Manilla St and is the first point of 
contact for welcoming clients and visitors to the office. 
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Janet | Treatment Support Facilitator, Gold 
Coast

Originally from Zimbabwe, Janet developed her passion for supporting 
marginalised families and individuals while working as a medical receptionist 
in Beenleigh. Janet has a Bachelor of Human Services and a Master of 
Health Service Management and brings a wealth of case management 
experience from her work as a child safety officer and a humanitarian case 
manager. Janet’s confidence and capability is a great asset to the Life+ 
Team and the PLHIV community on the Gold Coast.

Farewell Sue Gilling

We would like to acknowledge Treatment Support Team Leader Sue Gilling, 
who semi-retired in June 2021. Sue joined QPP in 2015 to support the 
development of QPP’s Life+ program, particularly case management. Sue 
was instrumental in establishing case management processes and systems 
and guiding a statewide team of highly skilled case managers over the 
past 6-years. Sue also provided direct service delivery to PLHIV. Sue has 
contributed significantly to the success of Life+ and QPP and to the lives of 
many PLHIV, both directly and indirectly. We are very grateful to Sue for all 
that she has done in support of our community.

Farewell Sue for now, and thank you for your contributions, support, and 
continued friendship.

Farewell Michael Cave 

Michael Cave was amongst the first of QPP’s Peer Navigators to join the team in 2016. Michael provided peer 
navigation services across central Queensland and was instrumental in establishing a regional social group in 
Rockhampton. Michael was promoted to Acting Peer Navigation Team Leader in 2020 and left QPP in early 
2021. Michael made a substantive contribution to the Peer Navigation Team, assisting with the development 
and refinement of the program over his 5-years with QPP.

We would like to acknowledge and thank Michael for his passion, commitment, and contributions to the 
community. 
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AFAO
ASHM
Anthony Lazaro
Bernard Gardiner 
Bodyline Spa and Sauna
Brisbane Barrel Hire
Brisbane Sexual Health and HIV Service
Cairns Sexual Health Service 
Canvas Club/Electric Avenue
Carbon Catering
Cepheid
ChilliDB
Code Blue
Connect Housing (Mackay office)
Corporate Traveller
Damien Martin (IndigiPrograms)
Daniel Reeders
David Bermingham
Diverse Voices
Dr Andrew Redmond
Dr Darren Russell
Dr David Siebert
Dr Graham Brown (La Trobe University)
ECCQ
Elan Medical Supplies (Beenleigh Office)
Freedom Migration
Gai Lemon
Geoff Manu
Gilead (Damian Fagan)
Gilead Fellowship Program
Gold Coast Sexual Health Service
Harrisons Human Resources 
Hepatitis Queensland
HIV Public Health Team
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC)
Jason O’Connor Auditor
JBS Bookkeeping
Jen Power (La Trobe)
Jess Solomon 
Joe Debattista (Metro North Public Health Unit)
Justin Clarke and the team from McGees 
Property
La Boite Theatre
LCM Air Conditioning
LGBTI Legal Service
Light and Shade
Living Positive Victoria
Mackay Sexual Health Service
Maximise your Communications, Neil Brimson 
Media Heroes
McCullough Robertson Lawyers
Michael Brown 

Michele Tobin 
Mount Isa Sexual Health Service
NAPWHA
Noosa Chocolate Factory 
Number 29 Cruise Club 
Open Doors
Performers at CWC
Peter Noble 
Phil Carswell
Pineapple Hotel
PLDI
Positive Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Network (PATSIN)
Positive Life NSW
Positive Women Victoria
Princess Alexandra Sexual Health 
QCSEA
Queensland Aboriginal and Islander Health Council
Queensland Council for LGBTI Health (QC) 
Queensland Health 
QuIHN
Queensland s100 prescribing GPs
Queensland Sexual Health Ministerial Advisory 
Committee 
Queensland University of Technology  (Jo 
Durham)
QWADA
Raj Singh Accounting 
RBWHID
Rockhampton Sexual Health Service
Sexual Health Society of Queensland
Simon O’Connor
The Sportsman Hotel
Studio Pilates
Sunshine Coast Sexual Health Service
The Hon Michael Kirby AC CMG
The Room Graphic Design
Toowoomba Sexual Health Service
Townsville Sexual Health Service
Tropical Public Health Unit
University of Queensland – School of Public Health 
(Charlie Gilks, Lisa Fitzgerald, Judith Dean, Allyson 
Mutch, Sara Bell, Owain Williams, Coral Gartner, 
Stephanie Bell, Olivia Hollingdrake) & Student Help 
on Campus (SHOC)
University of Southern Queensland, Dr Amy 
Mullens, Kirstie Daken, Adina Piovesana
ViiV Healthcare (Fraser Drummond)
Volunteers 
Wet Spa and Sauna
Wuchopperen Health Service
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

   2021   2020  
  Notes  $   $  

    
INCOME     
ATO Cash flow boost  37,500 62,500 
ATO Job Keeper   267,300 207,000 
Fundraising and donations  6,583 22,311 
Grants received - State  4,038,180 3,663,821 
Interest received   18,593 4,061 
Rental income   61,798 73,297 
Sundry income  20,838 23,132 
Total Income   4,450,792 4,056,122 

    
EXPENDITURE    
Accounting fees  95,750 96,482 
Advertising and Promotions  64,049 25,599 
Amortisation of right-of-use assets  233,887 - 
Clinic consumables  204,794 164,913 
Complex client care fund  68,358 75,582 
Computer, software, and website  169,909 110,110 
Consultants and facilitators   229,363 76,413 
Depreciation  51,988 59,951 
Employee entitlements  2,897,705 2,597,229 
Finance charges  16,010 - 
Insurance  68,376 44,902 
Membership fees and subscriptions  13,570 4,148 
Motor vehicle expenses  34,893 30,484 
Occupancy costs  93,469 255,506 
Postage, printing, and stationery  12,566 22,999 
Repairs and maintenance  63,667 44,988 
Sundry expense  45,539 39,050 
Telephone, mobiles, and internet  19,038 28,825 
Training and development  55,041 51,392 
Travel expenses  77,194 73,021 
Total Expenditure   4,515,166 3,801,594 

    
Surplus / (Deficit) before income tax expense   (64,374) 254,528 
Income tax expense  1  - - 
Surplus /(Deficit) after income tax expense for the 
year attributable to the members   (64,374) 254,528 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 
tax   - - 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to the members.   (64,374) 254,528 
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Statement of financial position 
As of 30 June 2021 
 

   2021   2020  
  Notes  $   $  

    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash at bank  29,669 60,331 
Cash on deposit  1,901,164 1,909,450 
Prepayments  60,499 179,754 
Accounts receivables  199 6,972 
Other receivables  3,040 150 
Total Current Assets   1,994,571 2,156,657 

    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Property, plant, and equipment 4 1,975,326 2,018,742 
Right-of-use assets   215,231 489,189 
Total Non-Current Assets   2,190,557 2,507,931 
Total Assets   4,185,128 4,664,588 

    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Accounts payables  22,340 140,857 
Accruals   - 53,203 
Grants received in advance  363,273 452,308 
GST payable  91,324 63,547 
Lease liabilities  240,098 293,353 
Other payables  35,639 17,005 
Provision for employee entitlements  205,250 154,310 
Superannuation payable  1,140 25,240 
Mortgage State of Queensland  2,000,000 2,000,000 
Total Current Liabilities   2,959,064 3,199,823 

    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITES    
Provision for employee entitlements  114,646 50,691 
Lease liabilities  6,473 244,755 
Total Non-Current Liabilities   121,119 295,446 
Total Liabilities   3,080,183 3,495,269 

    
Net Assets   1,104,945 1,169,319 

    
EQUITY    
Asset revaluation reserve  253,030 253,030 
Accumulated surplus 6 851,915 916,289 
Total Equity   1,104,945 1,169,319 
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Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

 

 Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve  
 Accumulated 

Surplus   Total  
   $   $   $  

    
    

Opening balance 1 July 2019 - 661,761 661,761 
Plus, surplus attributable to the members 253,030 - 253,030 
Other comprehensive income for the year - 254,528 254,528 
CLOSING BALANCE 30 JUNE 2020 253,030 916,289 1,169,319 

    
Opening balance 1 July 2020 253,030 916,289 1,169,319 
Plus, revaluation gains - - - 
Less deficit attributable to the members - (64,374) (64,374) 
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 
CLOSING BALANCE 30 JUNE 2021 253,030 851,915 1,104,945 

 

Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

   2021   2020  
   Note   $   $  

    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts from customers and grants  4,753,755 4,422,677 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (4,802,724) (4,176,083) 
Interest received   18,593 4,061 
Net Cash Flows Used by Operating Activities  5  (30,376) 250,655 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payment for plant and equipment  (8,572) (98,867) 
Payment for right to use assets   - (489,189) 
Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities   (8,572) (588,056) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds for right to use assets  - 538,108 
Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities   - 538,108 

    
Net Increase in Cash Held   (38,948) 200,707 
Cash at the beginning of the year   1,969,781 1,769,074 
CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR  5  1,930,833 1,969,781 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Association has adopted all the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been 
early adopted. 
  
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on 
the financial performance or position of the Association. 
  
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the Association:
 
AASB 16 Leases 
The Association has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for 
lessees eliminates the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets, right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities are recognised in the 
statement of financial position. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition is replaced with a 
depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on 
the recognised lease liabilities (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses 
associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 
117. However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results improve as the 
operating expense is now replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss. For classification 
within the statement of cash flows, the interest portion is disclosed in operating activities and the principal 
portion of the lease payments are separately disclosed in financing activities. For lessor accounting, the 
standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. 
  
Impact of adoption 
AASB 16 were adopted using the modified retrospective approach and as such comparatives have not 
been restated. There was no impact on opening retained profits as of 1 July 2019. 
 
Basis of preparation 
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB'), the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and 
associated regulations and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities. 
  
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association's accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
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Revenue recognition 
The Association recognises revenue as follows: 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Association is expected 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a 
customer, the Association: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations 
in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable 
consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be 
delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that 
depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised. 
  
Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer 
such as discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other 
contingent events. Such estimates are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' 
method. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue 
will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to 
the constraining principle are recognised as a refund liability. 
  
Sales revenue 
Events, fundraising, and raffles are recognised when received or receivable. 
  
Donations 
Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made.
  
Grants 
Grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the Association satisfies the performance obligations 
stated within the funding agreements. 
 
If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the Association is eligible to retain 
the contribution, the grant will be recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until those 
conditions are satisfied. 
  
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
  
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
Volunteer services 
The Association has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of 
contribution received. As such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also 
not recognised. 
  
Income tax 
As the Association is a charitable institution in terms of subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1997, as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax. 
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Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed 
in the Association's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to 
be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless 
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Association's normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after 
the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
  
Trade and other receivables 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 
 
Property, plant, and equipment 
Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant, 
and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 
 
Buildings  40 years 
Freehold improvements  15 years 
Plant and equipment  3-7 years 
Motor vehicles  5-7 years 
Office equipment  3-5 years 
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date. 
  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to the Association. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal 
proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
  
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-
in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount 
rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have 
independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit. 
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Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of 
the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature, they are measured at amortised 
cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 
 
Employee benefits 
  
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leaves not expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 
  
Defined contribution superannuation expense 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred. 
  
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure 
purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that 
the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in 
the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value 
measurement is based on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the 
use of relevant observable inputs, and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating 
cash flows.
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the tax authority. 
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Mortgage State of Queensland 
The registered mortgage is in favour of the State of Queensland on behalf of Queensland Health over Lot 
1, Survey Plan 130882, Local Government: Brisbane City.  Under the registered Mortgage if the Association 
defaults on the agreements or if the Association fails to comply with its obligations under the Capital 
Funding Agreement, then the State of Queensland may exist their rights under the mortgage.  

The State of Queensland will not make any demands for Moneys secured during any period that the 
Association is not in default under this Mortgage. 
 
The Association may at any time during the continuance of this Mortgage, redeem the Mortgaged 
Premises by paying to the State of Queensland the Moneys secured. The Association with then be entitled 
to obtain a formal release of this Mortgage from the State of Queensland.  
 
Under the Capital Funding Agreement dated the 22 June 2006 the amount of the registered mortgage in 
favour of the State of Queensland is two million dollars. This registered mortgage is interest free.  
 
NOTE 2: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue, and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on 
other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related 
actual results. The judgements estimate and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next 
financial year are discussed below. 
  
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has 
had, or may have, on the Association based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature 
of the products and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which 
the Association operates. Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be 
either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to 
events or conditions which may impact the Association unfavourably as at the reporting date or 
subsequently because of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
  
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The Association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges 
for its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change 
significantly because of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation 
charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete 
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. 
  
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The Association assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Association and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which 
incorporate several key estimates and assumptions. 
 
Employee benefits provision 
As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from 
the reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the 
liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been 
considered. 
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   2021   2020  
     $   $  

    
NOTE 3: AUDIT FEES    
Audit services  4,000 4,000 
Other services  - - 
    4,000 4,000 

    
NOTE 4: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    
Property:    
Land at fair value   1,104,000 1,104,000 

    
Buildings at fair value  796,000 796,000 
Less accumulated depreciation   (19,900) - 

  776,100 796,000 
    
Leasehold improvements at cost  10,128 10,128 
Less accumulated depreciation   (7,385) (4,853) 

  2,743 5,275 
Total Property   1,882,843 1,905,275 

    
Plant and equipment:    
Plant and equipment at cost  256,555 246,081 
Less accumulated depreciation  (164,072) (132,614) 
    92,483 113,467 
Total Property, plant, and equipment   1,975,326 2,018,742 

    
b. Movements in carrying amounts    

2020:  Property  
 Plant and 
Equipment   Total  

Opening written down value  1,690,478 36,318 1,726,796 
Plus, additions  - 98,867 98,867 
Less depreciation and impairments 253,030 - 253,030 
Less disposal (38,233) (21,718) (59,951) 
Closing Written Down Value 1,905,275 113,467 2,018,742 

    

2021:  Property  
 Plant and 
Equipment   Total  

Opening written down value  1,905,275 113,467 2,018,742 
Plus, additions  - 8,572 8,572 
Revaluation increment - - - 
Less depreciation and impairments (22,432) (29,556) (51,988) 
Less disposal - - - 
Closing Written Down Value 1,882,843 92,483 1,975,326 
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   2021   2020  
     $   $  

    
NOTE 5: CASH FLOW INFORMATION    

    
a. Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities with Surplus After Income Tax    

    
Surplus / (Deficit) attributable to the members  (64,374) 254,528 

    
Non-Cash Items    
Depreciation and impairments  51,988 59,951 
Amortisation of right-of-use assets  (17,579) - 

    
Changes in Assets and Liabilities    
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  119,255 (13,697) 
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivables  6,773 (3,342) 
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables  (2,890) - 
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable  (118,517) 39,580 
Increase/(decrease) in accruals  (53,203) (127,754) 
Increase/(decrease) in grants received in advance  (89,035) 7,576 
Increase/(decrease) in GST payable  27,777 (57,459) 
Increase/(decrease) in other payables  18,634 13,573 
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements  114,895 70,932 
Increase/(decrease) in superannuation payable   (24,100) 6,767 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   (30,376) 250,655 

    
b. Reconciliation of Cash    

    
Cash on hand  - - 
Cash at bank   29,669 60,331 
Cash on deposit   1,901,164 1,909,450 

  1,930,833 1,969,781 
Less bank overdraft  - - 
Total Cash   1,930,833 1,969,781 
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NOTE 7:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Market risk 
Interest rate risk 
The Association is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 
NOTE 8:  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Association had no contingent liabilities as of 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020. 
 
NOTE 9:  COMMITMENTS 
The Association had no commitments for expenditure as of 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020. 
 
NOTE 10:  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 11. 
 
Transactions with related parties
There were no transactions with related parties during the current and previous financial year. 
 
Receivable from and payable to related parties
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous 
reporting date. 
 
Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
 

   2021   2020  
     $   $  

    
NOTE 11: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
DISCLOSURES     
Compensation    
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel  
of the company is set out below:    
    
Short term employee benefits   416,607 416,818 

 
 
NOTE 12.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially positive 
for the Association up to 30 June 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or 
negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures 
imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing 
requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided. 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Association's operations, the results of those operations, or the Association's situation 
in future financial years. 
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Responsible Persons Declaration. 

Per section 60.15 of the Australian Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

1. the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the association's
financial position as of 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that
date,

2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the association will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

3. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations.

4. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act
1981 and regulations.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission 
Regulation 2013. 

__________________________ 
President 

06 / 09 / 2021
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Independent audit report 
 
To the members of the Queensland Positive People Inc 
 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of the Queensland Positive People Inc. which comprises the Statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of financial position as at the 30 June 2021, 
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows the notes to the financial statement, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion the financial report of the Queensland Positive People Inc has been prepared in accordance 
with Association’s Constitution, including. 
 
1. giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position as of 30 June 2021 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date. 
2. complying with Australian Accounting Standards. 
3. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-

Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations; and 
4. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 

and regulations. 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial report 
section of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is enough and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and have 
determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet 
the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations, 
Associations Incorporation Act 1981, and regulations and to meet the needs of the members. The 
management’s responsibility also includes such internal controls as the officers determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, Management is responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless Management either intent to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Management is responsible for overseeing the Association’s financial reporting process.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken based on this 
financial report. A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx.  This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Independence 
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional 
ethical pronouncements.  

__________________________ 
Jason O’Connor CA 
Registered Company Auditor (No. 353931) 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Jason O'Connor CA 
PO Box 3361 

WARNER QLD 4500 

(07) 3048 5727

auditor@joconnorptyltd.com.au 
www.joconnorptyltd.com.au 
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